
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRANDON SAMPLE, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) Civil Action No. 05-596 PLF
)

HARLEY LAPPIN, et al., )
)

Defendants. )
                              )

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE,
FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR TO TRANSFER

Defendants respectfully move, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.

12(b)(1) and (6); and 42 U.S.C. § 1997e(e), to dismiss the

Complaint.  In the alternative, this Court should enter summary

judgment in favor of defendants pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56,

because there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and

defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  Should

the Court deny defendants’ motion to dismiss or in the

alternative for summary judgment, defendants request that the

Court transfer this action to the Eastern District of Texas

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1404(a), because the transfer would

promote the interests of justice and the Court there would be a

more convenient forum.  

In support of this motion, Defendants rely upon the 
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accompanying memorandum and statement of material facts not in

dispute.  A proposed order is also attached.

Respectfully submitted,             

                                    
KENNETH L. WAINSTEIN, DC Bar #451058
United States Attorney              

                                    
R. CRAIG LAWRENCE, DC Bar #171538       
Assistant United States Attorney    

                                    
W. MARK NEBEKER, DC Bar #396739     
Assistant United States Attorney
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRANDON SAMPLE )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) Civil Action No. 05-596 PLF
)

HARLEY LAPPIN, ET AL. )
)

Defendant. )
                              )

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, 

FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR TO TRANSFER

INTRODUCTION

Defendants submit that dismissal, summary judgment for

Defendants, or transfer is warranted as set forth below.  In

short, Plaintiff's Complaint should be dismissed because

Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be

granted under the Religious Exercise in Land Use and by

Institutionalized Persons Act ("RLUIPA"), which does not apply to

federal prisons.  Plaintiff's claim under the Religious Freedom

and Restoration Act ("RFRA") of 1993 are also without merit and

the policy Plaintiff seeks to challenge is reasonably related to

a governmental interest under Turner v. Safley, 482 U.S. 78

(1987), and Plaintiff has failed to exhaust administrative

remedies on at least one of his contentions.  Finally, transfer

is appropriate, even were any claim to survive the instant

motion.
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ARGUMENT

RLUIPA does not apply to Federal Prisons

Plaintiff alleges that the denial of his request for a

religious accommodation while in federal prison violates RLUIPA. 

RLUIPA applies exclusively to state prisons and has no

application in federal prisons.  Ish Yerushalayim v. United

States, 374 F.3d 89 (2d Cir. 2004); Benning v. Georgia, 391 F.3d

1299 (11th Cir. 2004).  See also 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-2 and cc-5. 

Because Plaintiff is incarcerated in federal prison and his

contentions related to matters that occur while in federal

prison, RLUIPA does not provide the proper basis to challenge

actions by federal officials in federal prisons. 

Thus, the Plaintiff’s claims under RLUIPA must be dismissed.

Plaintiff has not exhausted administrative remedies for one
of his contentions

Under the Prison Litigation Reform Act ("PLRA"), a prisoner

must exhaust “such administrative remedies as are available”

before bringing a civil action in federal court.  42 U.S.C.

§1997e(a).  In Booth v. Churner, 532 U.S. 731 (2001), a unanimous

Supreme Court held that Congress mandated completion of any

prison administrative remedy process capable of addressing the

inmate’s complaint and providing some form of relief,

“irrespective of the forms of relief sought and offered through
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administrative avenues.” Id. at 741 n.6.  The remedy system at

issue in Booth was nearly identical to the three-level process

used in the federal prison system. Id. at 734; 28 C.F.R. Part

542.  

The Supreme Court affirmed dismissal of the case for failure

to complete exhaustion.  The High Court also closed the door on

any futility arguments made by the inmate, stating, “we will not

read futility or other exceptions into statutory exhaustion

requirements where Congress has provided otherwise.”  Id. at

1825.  See also Porter v. Nussle, 534 U.S. 516 (2002).

Exhaustion of all stages of the administrative remedy system

is therefore mandatory before a federal action may be commenced

by a prisoner.  The Bureau of Prisons ("BOP") administrative

remedy procedure is set out at 28 C.F.R. § 542.10, et seq., and

provides formal review of any complaint which relates to any

aspect of the inmate's confinement.  The process has four levels

of review: informal resolution, institution level, regional

director, and office of general counsel in central office, which

is the final administrative appeal in the Bureau of Prisons.  28

C.F.R. § 542.13-14.     

A review of the administrative remedy requests filed by this

plaintiff revealed that he exhausted his administrative remedies

regarding the denial of wine on Fridays and Saturdays and holy

days under the former BOP Central Policy. See Attachment A:
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1  Arguably, because Plaintiff exhausted his request for
wine only under the BOP’s earlier policy, his claim under that
policy is ineffectual, because that former policy is moot.  BOP
questions whether his desire for relatively large amounts of wine
would ever be consistent with safety and security.  But if he is
seeking to have his warden employ the “least restrictive
alternative” of Program Statement 5360.09, he should address his
request to his Warden.  The proper place to litigate such an
issue, however, would be in the District where he is
incarcerated.
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Request for Administrative Remedies, and Regional and Central

Office Appeals.  However, the Plaintiff did not exhaust his

administrative remedies with respect to his request that a staff

member, other than the Jewish Rabbi, provide him with the wine he

seeks.  See Attachment B: Declaration of Harrell Watts, National

Appeals Administrator.  Thus, the court should dismiss those

allegations.1  The Plaintiff is well acquainted with the

administrative remedy program as he has filed a total of 145

administrative requests since September of 2000.

The Bureau of Prisons Regulations and Program Statements

The Code of Federal Regulations explains that BOP does not

require that incarcerated individuals express a religious belief

or preference.  Upon arriving at the institution, inmates go

through an initial screening completed by the Unit Team, during

which inmates may or may not make known their religious

preferences.  Inmates can also request a change of their

religious preferences by submitting a written request to the

Chaplain at any time. 28 C.F.R. § 548.10 (c).  BOP policy has
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provided, and provides that in determining what religious

activities an inmate can participate in, “staff may wish to refer

to information reported on the intake screening form and the

inmate’s religious preference history.  Inmates showing ‘No

Preference’ or indicating membership in a different faith group

may be restricted from participating in activities deemed

appropriate for members only.”  See Program Statement 5360.08

(Attachment C), ¶ 8; accord Program Statement 5360.09, ¶ 8.

The regulations, which afford all inmates equal

opportunities in the accommodation of their religious practices,

provide:

(a) The Bureau of Prisons provides inmates of all faith
groups with reasonable and equitable opportunities to pursue
religious beliefs and practices, within the constraints of
budgetary limitations and consistent with the security and
orderly running of the institution and the Bureau of
Prisons.

(b) When considered necessary for the security or good order
of the institution, the Warden may limit attendance at or
discontinue a religious activity.  Opportunities for
religious activities are open to the entire inmate
population, without regard to race, color, nationality, or
ordinarily, creed. . . .

28 C.F.R. § 548.10 (emphasis added).

The BOP policy specifically addresses the use of wine during

religious rituals.  The BOP policy, amended in August 2002, 

reads as follows:

Inmates may be permitted to receive small amounts of wine as
part of a religious ritual, only when administered under the
supervision of clergy authorized by the Bureau of Prisons to
perform the ritual. 
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2  On August 22, 2002, a Change Notice amended the 2001
policy to allow inmates to use “small amounts of wine” during
religious rituals. See Program Statement 5360.08, Change Notice.
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Because wine is otherwise a contraband substance, it can be
dispensed only under strict control and supervision. 
Inmates will not be allowed to give wine to other inmates. 
For purposes of this policy, the consumption of wine under
these circumstances will not be considered consumption of
alcohol or ingestion of an illegal substance.  

See Program Statement 5360.08, Religious Beliefs and Practices,

pages 15-16, Section 20 (August 22, 2002 Change Notice).2 

On December 31, 2004, the BOP policy was again amended.  See

Attachment C: Program Statement 5360.09, Religious Beliefs and

Practices, page 4, Section 7(b) (December 31, 2004). The 2004

amended policy which came into effect on December 31, 2004, reads

as follows: 

Inmates may be permitted to receive small amounts of
wine as part of a religious ritual only when
administered under the supervision of BOP chaplains,
clergy contractors, or clergy volunteers authorized by
the Bureau to perform the ritual.

Program Statement 5360.09 at 4.  The distinction between the two

amendments is that the 2004 amendment expands the category of

individuals who can administer the wine to “BOP chaplains, clergy

contractors, or clergy volunteers.” See id.

In determining how to accommodate the inmate requests for

religious practices, BOP regulations also provide: that 

The Warden may request the chaplain to consult with
community representatives of the inmate’s faith group . . .
to verify the religious significance of the requested
observance.  The chaplain will work with requesting inmates
to accommodate a proper observance of the holy day.

Case 1:05-cv-00596-PLF     Document 17      Filed 08/08/2005     Page 8 of 52



3  The 1997 policy stated that “[s]acramental wine is
necessary for the worship of some faith groups . . .  In those
cases only, the staff or contract chaplain may consume small
amounts of wine for performance of the ritual.”  See Program
Statement 5360.07, Religious Beliefs and Practices, at 10,
Section 19 (August 25, 1997).

4  In O’Lone, the Supreme Court applied the reasonableness
test in Turner.  See infra.  
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28 C.F.R. § 548.18.

The new BOP policy is rationally related to a legitimate 
governmental interest

The Court of Appeals in Levitan v. Ashcroft, 281 F.3d 1313

(D.C. Cir. 2002), provided an analytical framework for cases

filed in the District of Columbia, which involve religious

practices in correctional institutions.  In Levitan, Catholic

inmates challenged the BOP policy no longer in effect which

prohibited inmates from drinking wine at any time, even during

religious ceremonies.  Catholic inmates had previously been

allowed to partake in the wine during mass and subsequently were

denied access to wine due to a policy change.3  Id. at 1316.  

The Levitan case involved a challenge under the First

Amendment and did not address whether the BOP policy violated the

RFRA as the appellants had not raised that issue at the District

Court level.  Id. at 1316.  Nevertheless, the Appellate Court

remanded the case with instructions to apply Turner v. Safley,

482 U.S. 78 (1987), and O’Lone v. Estate of Shabazz, 482 U.S. 342

(1987),4 as the standard applicable to cases involving a free

exercise claim in this circuit.  Id. at 1318-19.  The Levitan
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court concluded that the religious practice subject to

restriction does not have to be mandatory to be protected.  Id.

at 1319.  However, the restriction must be of a substantial

nature, and the restriction may be substantial if the practice is

based on a sincere belief.  Id. at 1319-20.  

The Plaintiff in this case files his complaint under RFRA. 

The Bureau of Prisons has amended its policy since Levitan and

currently allows inmates the use of wine during religious

rituals. The current policy is reasonable and establishes a

balance between the religious rights of inmates and the

legitimate governmental interest of maintaining security of the

institution.  

In Levitan, the Catholic inmates’ religious practice could

have been accommodated with a small amount of wine, or even by

just dipping the host in the wine. Id. at 183.  Unlike the small

amount of wine at issue in Levitan, the Plaintiff in this case is

asking for a relatively large quantity of wine on a regular basis

thereby presenting the institution with a serious threat to

security and a significant challenge to the efficient allocation

of resources devoted to religious purposes as similar requests

for wine from inmates of all religions who utilize wine would

have to be accommodated.  See Declaration of Susan VanBaalen

("VanBaalen Decl."); Declaration of Linda Thomas ("Thomas

Decl.").  The BOP policy the Plaintiff challenges meets the test
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enunciated in Turner as it is reasonably related to the

legitimate governmental interest of maintaining the secure and

orderly running of correctional institutions.  Moreover, the

limitations imposed by Plaintiff’s Warden and by BOP’s Central

Policy are the least restrictive alternatives that allow some

wine for religious purposes but are designed to protect the

safety and security of the prisons.

The New BOP Regulation and Policy Statement 
satisfy the Turner test as enunciated in Levitan and the RFRA

The Levitan Court directed district courts to apply the

Turner test in cases involving regulations which restrict the

free exercise of religion in a prison setting.  In so doing, the

court outlined the four prong test first enunciated in Turner,

supra, as follows:

First, there must be a valid, rational connection between
the regulation and the legitimate interest put forth to
justify it.  Second, there must be a determination whether
the prisoners retain alternative means of exercising their
asserted rights.  Third, there must be an assessment of the
impact accommodation of the asserted constitutional right
will have on guards, other inmates, and prison resources. 
Finally, “the absence of ready alternatives is evidence of
the reasonableness of a prison regulation.”

Id. at 1318 (citing Turner, 482 U.S. at 90).  In Turner, the

Supreme Court recognized the difficulty in running prisons which

“requires expertise, planning, and the commitment of resources,

all of which are peculiarly within the province of the

legislative and executive branches of government.”  Turner,
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supra, at 85.  The Supreme Court established the standard of

review “that is responsive both to the ‘policy of judicial

restraint regarding prisoner complaints and [to] the need to

protect constitutional rights.’”  Id.  Application of the Turner

test to the BOP religious policy reflects that it is rationally

related to the security of the prisons.

First, the BOP regulations and policy (hereinafter BOP

policy) regarding the use of wine by incarcerated individuals for

a religious purpose meet the first prong of the Turner test.  The

policy is permissive; thus, allowing prison administrators to

make decisions which fit the special circumstances or inmate

population in their institutions.  The governmental interest in

restricting the use of wine in federal correctional institutions

is most definitely legitimate.  Use of wine or any other

alcoholic beverage in prison could seriously compromise the

security of the institution as such consumption has the effect of

altering moods and eliciting violent behavior.  See Linda Thomas,

¶ 4-11.  Many individuals who consume alcohol engage in violent,

erratic behavior, or behavior that disrupts the orderly running

of the institution.  See VanBaalen Decl., ¶¶ 11-16; Thomas Decl.,

¶¶ 4-11.  This violent and erratic behavior may be exacerbated by

the conditions of confinement.  Id.  Many incarcerated offenders

have a history of substance abuse and may utilize the religious

rituals to get the amounts of alcohol or wine they choose.  See
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5 “The Sabbath meal on Friday evening is ushered in with the
recital of Kiddush (the sanctification blessing).  It is
meritorious to say Kiddush over aged and perfect wine, but grape
juice is acceptable in the institutional setting. . . . When wine
of grape juice are unavailable, the Kiddush may be recited over
two loaves of bread or whole matzot. . . . The Kiddush should
also be recited over a cup of wine or grape juice at the start of
the Sabbath morning meal.” Institutional Handbook of Jewish
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Thomas Decl., ¶¶ 5-11.  The governmental objective in this case

is neutral and the regulation is implemented in a neutral

fashion.  All inmates of all religious faiths are treated the

same, are subject to the same policy, and are provided the same

or equivalent access to religious objects and rituals.  

The BOP policy is not arbitrary or irrational nor is it an

exaggerated response to a governmental interest.  The BOP policy

allows for the use of wine in “small amounts” during religious

rituals thereby striking a compromise between the religious

rights of the inmates and the secure and orderly running of the

institution.  See Program Statement 5360.09, ¶ 7; VanBaalen

Decl., ¶¶ 6-7, 12-16; Thomas Decl., ¶¶ 9-10.  

In FCI Beaumont’s Low Security facility (“Beaumont Low”),

inmates are not allowed to partake in the wine because of

security concerns.  Even if Beaumont Low allowed wine, the

Plaintiff would not obtain the relief he is seeking.  The

Plaintiff in this case is asking for a substantial amount of wine

- several ounces on a regular basis - clearly outside the amount

generally allowed by the BOP policy.  Specifically, he is asking

for 3.5 ounces while saying Kiddush5 during Friday and Saturday
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Practice and Procedure, Chapter 4-7 (9/98).  

6 Shabbos and Shabbat both are the Hebrew word for Sabbath.  

7 Passover Seder is described as follows:  

The two Passover Seders are not simply ‘meals’ - they are
religious rituals that require certain foods as part of
their proper observance.  Observant Jews are obligated to
partake in two Seders on Passover, on the first two eves of
the holiday.

During the Seder, the ‘Haggadah’ is recited.  The Haggadah
is a collection of prayers, songs and text recounting the
Exodus from Egypt.

Matzo, bitter herbs and wine (or grape juice), ‘Charoses’
(see below), a chicken neck or other piece of roasted meat,
horseradish and romaine lettuce, potatoes, onions, salt
water and a hard-boiled whole egg are religious items that
are required to complete the Seder rituals, as are the other
foods comprising a religious meal.

Among other rituals, Jews are mandated to drink four cups of
wine at each of the two Seders. . . .  If, however, for
health or other reasons, wine is unavailable, kosher grape
juice may be used instead.

Id. at 6-20.  
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shabbos6 services, and four cups of 3.5 ounces of wine each

during the Passover seder.7  The BOP must provide equal

opportunities for all inmates of all faith groups to pursue their

religious practices.  As a result, BOP would have to provide all

inmates with religious practices involving wine consumption with

substantial amounts of wine.  See VanBaalen Decl., ¶¶ 7-8. 

Indeed, BOP would have to accommodate inmates’ requests for wine

in the amounts requested.  Thus, the dispensation of wine as the

Plaintiff requests would be contrary to sound correctional
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judgment and would seriously jeopardize the security of BOP

institutions.  See Thomas Decl., ¶¶ 9-10.

Moreover, Beaumont Low is utilizing grape juice as a

substitute for wine for the celebration of religious rituals,

including those of Judaism.  See VanBaalen Decl., ¶ 4.  Grape

juice is accepted in the Jewish faith generally as a permissible

substitute for wine during the Jewish ceremonies and holy days. 

See VanBaalen Decl., ¶ 13.  The Plaintiff is still able to

celebrate his religious holy days and observances.  He is given

access to a Rabbi and to articles needed to celebrate his holy

days.  Id., ¶ 5.  Thus, the policy is a rational response to the

legitimate governmental interest of preserving institution

security. 

Second, the plaintiff has an alternative means to exercise

his religious preference.  In engaging in this prong of the

Turner analysis, the Court looked at whether the inmates were

deprived of “all means of expression.”  Turner, supra, at 92.  In

O’Lone, the Supreme Court upheld a prison policy which prevented

some Muslim prisoners from participating in a Muslim service as

the Plaintiffs were not deprived of “all forms of religious

exercise but instead allow[ed] participation in a number of

Muslim religious ceremonies.”  O’Lone, supra, at 343.  Similar to

O’Lone, this Court should look at the plaintiff’s ability to

participate in all the holy days and observances of his religion

Case 1:05-cv-00596-PLF     Document 17      Filed 08/08/2005     Page 15 of 52



8 The matzah is known as the bread of affliction the Jews
eat during Passover.  “Matzah has no special flavor, as it
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kneading the dough, special precautions are taking against
fermentation.”  Rabbi Solomon Ganzfried, Code of Jewish Law, fn.
81, Hebrew Publishing Co. (1961). 
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as support that the restriction on the use of wine is reasonable. 

The Plaintiff is allowed to participate in all weekly Sabbath

observances, which consist of two congregate services one on

Friday evening and the other on Saturday morning.  The

institution contracts a Rabbi who visits the institution once a

month.  VanBaalen Decl., ¶ 5.  The Plaintiff is allowed to

observe the required Occasional Observances/Holy Days & Public

Fasts as they occur throughout the Jewish Calendar Year.  He also

receives a Kosher diet.  Id.  Moreover, as the Plaintiff himself

admits in his complaint, the institution Chaplain provides him

with “grape juice, candles, matzah,8 a lighter, and other

religious acoutrements [sic]. . .” Complaint, ¶ 20.  Thus, the

application of the policy to the Plaintiff’s request only bars

him from drinking the substantial amount of wine he seeks during

the rituals, but it does not bar him from participating or

observing the holy days and rituals of his religion as reflected

in the same Code of Jewish Law which he cites.  Complaint, ¶ 9;   

Thus, the application of the regulation does not deprive the

plaintiff “of all means of expression.”  

The Plaintiff in this case challenges the decision to
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utilize grape juice for his religious observances.  Based on

security concerns, wine is not used at Beaumont Low.  The Rabbi

has indicated that grape juice is an adequate substitute for

wine.  The Levitan court concluded that a statement made by a

religious leader about the consumption of wine not being

mandatory in not necessary dispositive of the issue.  In this

case, Jewish Law itself, upon which the Rabbi relies and which

Plaintiff contends he follows (Complaint, ¶ 9), provides grape

juice as an alternative to celebrate the Kuddish and Passover

Seder when wine is not available.  See Institutional Handbook, at

4-7 and 6-20; VanBaalen Decl., ¶ 4.  Indeed, the recitation of

Kuddish can be done in one of three ways:  pray Kuddish over

wine, pray Kuddish over grape juice, or pray Kuddish over the

bread without wine.  Id.  Consistent with this instruction, grape

juice is being used as a substitute for wine at Beaumont Low.

Plaintiff still retains alternative means of expressing his

religious belief and is able to participate in all observances of

his religion. 

Third, accommodating the plaintiff’s request would have a

serious, negative impact on the security of inmates, correctional

officers, and even religious services staff.  See VanBaalen

Decl., ¶¶ 6-8, 11-13, 16-18; Thomas Decl., ¶¶ 8-11.  In

enunciating this prong, the Turner court explained:

In the necessarily closed environment of the correctional
institution, few changes will have no ramifications on the

Case 1:05-cv-00596-PLF     Document 17      Filed 08/08/2005     Page 17 of 52



- 16 -

liberty of others or on the use of the prison’s limited
resources for preserving institutional order.  When
accommodation of an asserted right will have a significant
“ripple effect” on fellow inmates or on prison staff, courts
should be particularly deferential to the informed decision
of corrections officials.

Turner, supra, at 90.  

To give Plaintiff the relief he seeks would impose a

tremendous burden on institution resources as wine would have to

be provided to all inmates of all religious faiths who utilize

wine in the amounts of the inmates’ preferences. See United

States v. Jefferson, 175 F.Supp.2d 1123, 1132 (N.D. Ill.

2001)(“Any judicial attempt to carve out a religious exception

will result in significant administrative problems for the

[agency] and open the door to a myriad of claims for religious

exceptions.”) One of the main principles of correctional

management is to provide all inmates with equal opportunities and

not to afford preferential treatment to any particular group or

inmate.  The principle of equity was preserved in the policy at

issue here.  The resources available in the institutions are

limited.  Moreover, the BOP would lose its ability to restrict

drinking wine in its institutions, in the amounts, time, place,

and manner that would not compromise the security of the

institution whenever an inmate asserts a religious purpose. 

Additionally, to provide the inmate with wine would mean to force

the Rabbi to give him wine against his own decision or to even

violate the Rabbi’s own religious practice. 
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Fourth, there are no ready alternatives to accommodate the

Plaintiff’s request.  The BOP amended its policy to accommodate

the religious rights of inmates and provided that inmates may use

“small amounts of wine” during religious rituals.  There is no

other alternative to accommodate the competing interests of

security of the institution and the religious practices of

incarcerated individuals.  The discretionary nature of the policy

strikes a balance between those two competing interests.  The

policy is clearly not an exaggerated response to prison concerns. 

Generally, if a plaintiff can “point to an alternative that

fully accommodates the prisoner’s rights at de minimis cost to

valid penological interests, a court may consider that as

evidence that the regulation does not satisfy the reasonable

relationship standard.”  Id. at 91.  The Plaintiff has not been

able to point to an alternative that properly safeguards safety

and security; he is requesting 3.5 ounces of wine for Kiddush and

the shabbos services on Friday nights and Saturday morning and

four glasses of 3.5. ounces of wine for Passover Seder.   The

Plaintiff contends that BOP could use Manischewitz, which

according to him distills a low alcohol wine.  However, the

Plaintiff requests such large amounts of wine on a regular basis

that providing him even with this presumptively low alcohol wine

would impose a heavy burden on prison resources and still not

adequately protect against drunkenness and assaultive behavior by
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those attempting to secure more wine of any alcoholic content. 

See VanBaalen Decl., ¶¶ 12, 16; Thomas Decl., ¶¶ 10-11.  The same

accommodations would have to be made for all inmates whose

claimed religious practices might include the use of wine. 

Specifically, inmates would be able to obtain the amount of wine

of their choice so long as they raise a sincere religious belief

that requires the wine, a situation which would pose a serious

threat to the security of prisons.  Id.

In light of all these reasons, the new policy is rationally

related to the governmental interest in maintaining the security

of the institutions and meets the four prong test in Turner. 

Similarly, Plaintiff does not have a valid claim under the

Religious Freedom and Restoration Act.  In his complaint,

Plaintiff contends that the denial of his request for wine

substantially burdens his free exercise of religion as it is

based on his sincere religious belief.  Plaintiff contends that

in denying his request, the BOP “did not assert a compelling

governmental interest nor did [it] consider if [this] outright

denial was the least restrictive means. . .” Plaintiff’s

complaint, ¶ 18.  Plaintiff further contends that the BOP failed

to accommodate his request for religious accommodation in

violation of RFRA. 

On November 16, 1993, Congress enacted RFRA, which reads as

follows:
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(a) In general

Government shall not substantially burden a person's
exercise of religion even if the burden results from a rule
of general applicability, except as provided in subsection
(b) of this section.

(b) Exception

Government may substantially burden a person's exercise of
religion only if it demonstrates that application of the
burden to the person--

(1) is in furtherance of a compelling governmental
interest; and

(2) is the least restrictive means of furthering that
compelling governmental interest.

(c) Judicial relief

A person whose religious exercise has been burdened in
violation of this section may assert that violation as a
claim or defense in a judicial proceeding and obtain
appropriate relief against a government.  Standing to assert
a claim or defense under this section shall be governed by
the general rules of standing under article III of the
Constitution.

Religious Freedom and Restoration Act of 1993, 42 U.S.C.A. §

2000bb.  The RFRA was Congress’ way of returning to the

compelling governmental interest abrogated in Employment

Division, Department of Human Resources of Oregon v. Smith, 494

U.S. 872 (1990).  The RFRA statute does not provide definitions

of its key terms “substantial burden,” “compelling governmental

interest,” and/or “least restrictive means.”  See id.  The

Legislative Committee encouraged Courts to look at cases prior to

the Smith case for guidance with respect to those definitions.

See S. Rep. 103-111.  Inmates are allowed to bring claims under

RFRA.  The legislative history of RFRA shows that Congress
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intended through the enactment of this statute for courts to

accord prison administrators due deference.9  

Under RFRA, the government cannot substantially burden a

person’s exercise of religion.  “Inadequately formulated prison

regulations and policies grounded on mere speculation,

exaggerated fears, or post-hac rationalizations will not suffice

to meet the [A]ct’s requirements.”  S. Rep. No. 103-111.  In

order to state a claim under RFRA, plaintiff must allege facts

demonstrating that a sincerely held religious belief has been

substantially burdened by the government policies.  Henderson v.

Kennedy, 253 F.3d 12 (D.C. Cir. 2001);  Jackson v. District of

Columbia, 89 F. Supp.2d 48 (D.D.C. 2000).  Once the Plaintiff has

met the burden of showing a substantial burden on his sincerely

held beliefs, the burden then shifts to the government to

demonstrate that application of a burden to the person’s religion

is (1) in furtherance of a compelling government interest and (2)
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is the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling

governmental interest.  42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-1(a), (b).  

Plaintiff’s Claim Of A Religious Belief

The Plaintiff states that he is an observant Jew who has

“practiced Judaism before his incarceration and continued his

practice while confined.”  Complaint at ¶ 8.  He asserts he

“frequently attends Jewish services, events, etc. . . .” 

Complaint, ¶ 8.   The Plaintiff contends that he must drink wine

during the Sabbath and Passover Seder as drinking wine is not

only central to his religion but it is also a sincerely held

belief.   In his complaint, Plaintiff specifically contends that

he sincerely believes: 

that he must drink at least 3.5 ounces of red wine (a
reviit) while saying Kiddush, a prayer sanctifying the
Sabbath, during Friday night and Saturday shabbos services. 
Plaintiff sincerely believes that wine must be used because
it has been dictated by Jewish sages, the Code of Jewish
Law, and by practice.  For example, before his
incarceration, plaintiff said Kiddush over wine during his
Friday night and Saturday morning shabbos services.

Plaintiff also sincerely believes that he must drink four
cups containing at least 3.5 ounces of wine during the
Passover sader . . .

Complaint, ¶¶ 9-10.

In Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205, 215-16 (1972), a case

preceding Smith, supra, and the passage of RFRA, the Supreme

Court cautioned that “[a]lthough a determination of what is a

‘religious’ belief or practice entitled to constitutional

protection may present a most delicate question, the very concept
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of ordered liberty precludes allowing every person to make his

own standards on matters of conduct in which society as a whole

has important interests.”  The Supreme Court later said that

“[i]t is not within the judicial ken to question the centrality

of particular beliefs or practices to a faith, or the validity of

particular litigants’ interpretation of those creeds.”  Hernandez

v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue Service, 490 U.S. 680, 699

(1989).

There is substantial reason to doubt Plaintiff's claims

about his claimed long-held Jewish beliefs, see VanBaalen Decl.,

¶¶ 8, 11.  But, assuming arguendo that Plaintiff holds a sincere

religious belief to drink the amounts of wine he identifies in

his Complaint, the BOP policy does not impose a substantial

burden on his sincere belief, is justified by a compelling

governmental interest, and constitutes the least restrictive

means of achieving that interest.

The BOP Regulation does not impose a substantial burden
on the Plaintiff’s Sincerely Held Beliefs

Assuming that the Plaintiff has the sincerely held belief of

having wine in the amounts and manner he describes in the

Complaint, he now bears the burden of showing that the BOP

regulation substantially burdens his sincere religious belief. 

Mere conclusory allegations are not enough to carry that burden.

"[A] court must accept only well-pleaded allegations of fact, it
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need not 'accept ‘legal conclusions.’” Taiwo Okusami v.

Psychiatric Inst. of Washington, Inc., 959 F.2d 1062, 1069 (D.C.

Cir. 1992), quoting 5A Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and

Procedure, § 1357, at 315; see also Kowal v. MCI Communications

Corp., 16 F.3d 1271, 1276 (D.C. Cir. 1994).  Courts must be

mindful that “[l]awful incarceration brings about the necessary

withdrawal or limitation of many privileges and rights, a

retraction justified by the considerations underlying our penal

system.”  Price v. Johnston, 334 U.S. 266, 285 (1948). 

To show a substantial burden, “[t]he interference must be

more than an inconvenience; the burden must be substantial and an

interference with a tenet or belief to religious doctrine.” 

Graham v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue Service, 822 F.2d 844,

850-51 (9th Cir. 1987), aff’d sub nom, Hernandez v. Commissioner

of Internal Revenue Service, 490 U.S. 680 (1989).  “A substantial

burden constitutes ‘putting substantial pressure on an adherent

to modify his behavior and to violate his beliefs.’”  Cockrell-El

v. District of Columbia, 937 F.Supp. 18 (D.D.C. 1996) (quoting

Hobbie v. Unemployment Appeals Comm'n of Fla., 480 U.S. 136, 141

(1987)).  “A substantial burden does not arise merely because

’the government refuses to conduct its own affairs in ways that

comport with the religious beliefs of particular citizens.’"

Alliance for Bio-Integrity v. Shalala, 116 F.Supp.2d 166 (D.D.C.

2000)(quoting Bowen v. Roy, 476 U.S. 693, 699 (1986)). 
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In Henderson v. Kennedy, 253 F.3d 12 (D.C. Cir. 2001), the

D.C. Circuit Court found the challenged regulation which banned

the sales of T-shirts in the Mall was content neutral and did not

discriminate among viewpoints.  Id. at 16.  The plaintiffs still

had a “multitude of means” to spread the gospel as they could

still distribute the T-shirts for free or sell them elsewhere. 

Id.  Essentially, the Court found the regulation did not force

plaintiffs “to engage in conduct that their religion forbids or

that it prevents them from engaging in conduct their religion

requires. . . . Nor does the regulation ‘significantly inhibit or

constrain conduct or expression that manifests some central tenet

of [plaintiffs] beliefs.’” Id. at 17.  See also Lynn v. Northwest

Indian Cemetery Protective Association, 485 U.S. 439, 450-51

(1988)(same); Branch Ministries v. Rossotti, 40 F.Supp.2d 15, 25

(D.D.C. 1999), aff'd 211 F.3d 137 (D.D.C. 2000)(same);  Cockrell-

El, supra, 937 F.Supp. at 21 (same).  The plaintiffs were not

forced to change their practices nor were they force to violate a

tenet of their religion.  Thus, the Court upheld the regulation

since it did not impose a substantial burden on the plaintiffs. 

See also Thiry v. Carlson, 78 F.3d 1491 (10th Cir. 1996)(finding

no substantial burden in a case in which the governmental action

did not cause the plaintiffs to change their religious practices;

indeed, plaintiffs would continue with their religious beliefs

and practices even after implementation of the challenged
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action).

In the context of prisons, in Gartrell v. Ascroft, 191

F.Supp.2d 23, 25 (D.D.C. 2002), the District Court for the

District of Columbia, on remand, evaluated a case in which the

Virginia Department of Corrections ("VDOC") grooming policy

precluded BOP inmates housed in VDOC, from complying with the

fundamental tenet of their religions (i.e., Rastafarian and

Muslim) which prohibited men from shaving their faces.  BOP

inmates in VDOC institutions sued on the basis of RFRA.  In order

to ensure compliance with this grooming regulation, VDOC went as

far as forcibly shaving inmates and placing them in segregation

for failure to voluntarily comply with the grooming regulation. 

Id. at 26. The Court found a substantial burden on the inmates’

religious beliefs as they were forced to violate a fundamental

tenet of their religion. Id. at 26-27.

In Cockrell-El v. District of Columbia, the Plaintiff

contended that his rights under RFRA were violated as he was not

able to travel to and from his religious service without being

assaulted.  937 F.Supp. at 21.  The Court found no substantial

burden as the Plaintiff contended the alleged assault occurred

after the Plaintiff attended the service and neither prevented

the Plaintiff from participating in his religious practice nor

pressured him to commit an action that would violate his

religion.  Id.  The plaintiff failed to show that “the state
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condition[ed] receipt of an important benefit upon conduct

proscribed by a religious faith, or [that] it denie[d] such a

benefit because of conduct mandated by religious belief, thereby

putting substantial pressure on an adherent to modify his

behavior and to violate his beliefs.” Id. (Citation omitted). 

See Sherbert v. Verner, 374 U.S. 398, 406 (1963)(finding that

conditioning “the availability of benefits upon the appellant’s

willingness to violate a cardinal principle of her religious

faith effectively penalizes the free exercise of her

constitutional liberties.”) 

In this case, especially given the Code of Jewish Law upon

which Plaintiff, himself, relies, Plaintiff’s allegations do not

rise to the level of a substantial burden - only an inconvenience

suffered which does not significantly inhibit or constrain his

religious conduct or expression.10  Nothing in the complaint

indicates any fundamental or substantial interference with the

exercise of his religious rights.  In accordance with RFRA, the

BOP attempts to accommodate the practices of religion of all

inmates of all religions at correctional institutions.  However,

an inconvenience to an inmate’s practice of religion is not
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considered a substantial interference. 

The policy in question and its application to the Plaintiff

does not have the effect of changing or inhibiting his religious

expression.  It does not have the effect of precluding the

Plaintiff from complying with a tenet of his religion nor does it

force him to engage in activities that violate his religion.  The

BOP does not condition the receipt of any benefit upon the

Plaintiff’s willingness to not drink wine during his religious

holy days.  See Sherbert v. Verner, 374 U.S. 398, 406 (1963).  

The Plaintiff can practice all observances of his religion. 

Indeed, the Plaintiff can pray Kiddush and participate in

Passover Seder without wine in accordance with the Jewish Law

upon which he describes himself as observing.   The BOP provides

the Plaintiff with articles, such as candles and matzah, he may

use to celebrate his religious holy days.  The BOP also provides

the Plaintiff with an adequate substitute for wine by providing

him with Kosher grape juice.  The BOP contracts with a Rabbi to

visit the institution periodically.  VanBaalen Decl., ¶ 5. 

Although Plaintiff asserts that he disagrees with the Rabbi

regarding the use of wine, “[t]he Constitution does not require .

. . a religious advisor whose beliefs are completely congruent

with his own.”  Weir v. Nix, 114 F.3d 817, 820 (8th Cir. 1997). 

The application of the BOP policy to this Plaintiff is “at most a

restriction on one of a multitude of means, it is not a
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substantial burden on [his] vocation.”  See Lynn, supra, 485 U.S.

at 450-51.  But see Rigdon v. Perry, 962 F.Supp. 150, 162 (D.D.C.

1997) (court found a substantial burden when military chaplains

were prohibited from encouraging congregants to write to Congress

about pending abortion law as the chaplains were left with no

autonomy to determine the religious content of their sermons).

Nevertheless, assuming arguendo that the BOP policy imposes

a substantial burden on the Plaintiff’s religious practices, such

burden is justified by a compelling governmental interest and it

constitutes the least restrictive means. 

The burden on Plaintiff’s Religion is in furtherance of a
compelling governmental interest

The Plaintiff contends that BOP is substantially burdening

his sincere belief to drink wine and such burden is not in

furtherance of a compelling governmental interest in violation of

RFRA.

RFRA was passed to return to the compelling governmental

interest standard enunciated in Sherbert v. Verner, 374 U.S. 398

(1963).  See H.R. Rep. 103-88 (May 11, 1993).  Under the RFRA,

the government bears the burden of showing that the policy

furthers a compelling government interest.  To be compelling, the

“interest must be of the ‘highest order.’” Winconsin v. Yoder,

supra, 406 U.S. at 215.  Maintaining security in correctional

institutions has been regarded as an interest of the “highest
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order.”  H.R. Rep. 103-88, supra.  “Whether something qualifies

as a compelling interest is a question of law.”  United States v.

Hardman, 297 F.3d 1116, 1127 (10th Cir. 2002) (citation omitted).

Under the RFRA, a court will not examine the general

application of a prison regulation, but will instead look at

whether there is a compelling governmental interest, advanced

through the least restrictive means, to apply the prison

regulation to the individual Plaintiff.  Kikumura v. Hurley, 242

F.3d 950 (10th Cir. 2001).  The government has a compelling

interest in controlling alcohol consumption and intoxicants

within its prison walls.  See Jenkins v. Angelone, 948 F.Supp.

543, 548 (E.D. Va. 1996)(denying inmate a religious diet which

consisted of fresh fruit and vegetables because the “potential

for inmates to make alcohol or mash would dramatically increase”

which would “result in a great security threat” to the

institution.)  The use of alcohol has a correlation with violent

and disruptive behaviors.  See VanBaalen Decl., ¶ 14; Thomas

Decl., ¶¶ 4-11.  This correlation is exacerbated in the volatile

prison environment where tensions are already at its highest. 

Because of the threat posed by alcohol consumption in prisons,

BOP policy generally prohibits inmates from drinking alcohol. 

Indeed, the BOP disciplinary code penalizes inmates who use

alcohol or intoxicants in prison.  28 C.F.R. § 541.13 (Codes 215,

222).  The BOP policy, however, strikes a balance between the
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religious rights of inmates and the security of the institution

by providing in its religious policy that inmates may be allowed

to drink a “small amount of wine” during religious rituals.  

Plaintiff is requesting to have 3.5 ounces of wine for

shabbos services on Friday evening and Saturday morning and four

glasses of 3.5 ounces of wine in Passover Seder.  The Plaintiff’s

request can reasonably be read as outside the scope of the BOP

policy, which allows inmates to drink “small amounts of wine”

during religious rituals.  The Plaintiff seeks to amend policy as

opposed to comport with it.  By asking for such large amounts of

wine, the Plaintiff is seeking to obtain preferential treatment

over other Jewish inmates as well as all other inmates at

Beaumont Low.  To allow this one Jewish inmate to get wine in the

manner he seeks would create serious problems in the institution. 

Prison officials would appear to favor one inmate over all other

inmates of his own and other religious affiliations.  This could

readily lead to violence in the institution.

Moreover, to give Plaintiff the relief he seeks would create

an administrative nightmare for prison administrators at Beaumont

Low and eventually the entire BOP.  BOP religious policy is

grounded on the principle of equal opportunities for all inmates

of all religious affiliations within the constraints necessary to

effectively allocate resources and maintain the secure and

orderly running of BOP institutions.  Under the Plaintiff’s
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desired construction of the BOP policy, BOP would have to provide

inmates with a sincere belief to drink wine in the amounts they

choose.  A situation which could lead to chaos in prisons.  This

would no doubt create a serious security problem in BOP

institutions.  See, e.g., VanBaalen Decl., ¶ 14; Thomas Decl., ¶¶

4-11.

In light of these reasons, the Court should defer to BOP’s

decision to deny Plaintiff’s request as there exists a compelling

government interest in maintaining security in prisons.

The burden on Plaintiff’s Religion constitutes the least
restrictive means of furthering the compelling governmental
interest

Plaintiff contends that the BOP policy does not constitute

the least restrictive means to further a compelling governmental

interest.

“The government cannot meet its burden to prove least

restrictive means unless it has actually considered and rejected

the efficacy of less restrictive measures before adopting the

challenged practice.”  Gartrell, supra, 191 F.Supp.2d at 39-40. 

This, however, does not mean that prison officials must analyze

every conceivable option in order to satisfy this prong of RFRA.

See Hamilton v. Schriro, 74 F.3d 1545, 1556 (8th Cir. 1996),

cert. denied, 519 U.S. 874 (1996):

It would be a herculean burden to require prison
administrators to refute every conceivable option in
order to satisfy the least restrictive means prong of
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RFRA.  Moreover, such an onerous requirement would be
irreconcilable with the well-established principle,
recognized by the Supreme Court and RFRA’s legislative
history, that prison administrators must be accorded
due deference in creating regulations and policies
directed at the maintenance of prison safety and
security.

Hamilton v. Schriro, 74 F.3d at 1556.  The government can meet

its burden to prove the least restrictive means by showing the

less restrictive alternatives were not acceptable to the

plaintiff.  See id. (ruling in favor of prison officials who

denied Plaintiff’s request for a sweat lodge as Plaintiff’s “own

all-or-nothing position supports the prison officials’ contention

that an outright prohibition against a sweat lodge ceremony is

the least restrictive means . . .”).  

Justice Blackmun warned that “[a] judge would be

unimaginative indeed if he could not come up with something a

little less ‘drastic’ or a little less ‘restrictive’ in almost

any situation.”  Hamilton, supra (quoting Illinois State Board of

Elections v. Socialist Worker Party, 440 U.S. 173, 188-89

(1979)(Blackmun, concurring)).  See also S. Rep. 103-111, supra,

at 1909.  Thus, Courts must exercise judicial restraint and defer

to the prison administrators decisions with respect to the

implementation of policies and procedures in prisons.  It is

extremely difficult for prison administrators to evaluate and

accommodate individual requests for special treatment under RFRA

while maintaining the integrity of their policy.  “The most
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effective and fair means of applying prison regulations is across

the board to avoid resentment . . .” among inmates.  Blanken v.

Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correction, 944 F.Supp.

1359, 1368 (S.D. Ohio 1996).  

In Gartrell v. Ashcroft, supra, 191 F.Supp.2d at 28, the

District Court for the District of Columbia found that BOP could

not establish that placing inmates with religious objections to

grooming in VDOC facilities with a mandatory grooming regulation

was the least restrictive alternative to achieve a compelling

governmental interest.   The Court analyzed some alternative

means to accommodate the religious beliefs of the inmates and the

resources available to the BOP in identifying institutions with

no mandatory grooming practices.  Id. at 27-36.  There, the Court

opined, BOP had the screening procedures to identify inmates with

religious objections to the grooming policy and could easily

house them in institutions that did not have a mandatory grooming

policy.  Moreover, BOP conceded then that it had not considered

any less restrictive alternative.  Thus, the Court concluded that

housing inmates with religious objections in VDOC institutions

was not the least restrictive means of achieving a compelling

governmental interest.

The present BOP religious policy constitutes the least

restrictive means for achieving a compelling governmental

interest.  The BOP 1997 religious policy, which is the policy
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challenged in Levitan, did not allow inmates to consume wine

during religious rituals or at any other time for religious

purposes.  Indeed, the 1997 policy only allowed the celebrant of

the ritual to drink wine. 

By 2002, the BOP had amended its religious policy to provide

that “[i]nmates may be permitted to receive small amounts of wine

as part of a religious ritual.”  See Program Statement 5260.08,

Religious Beliefs and Practices, pages 15-16, Section 20 (August

22, 2002 Change Notice).  This policy is permissive and allows

prison administrators discretion to make determinations regarding

the use of wine by inmates for religious purposes.  

The policy as it applies to the Plaintiff is the least

restrictive means of achieving a governmental interest.  The use

of wine at Beaumont Low was found to present a security problem

at the institution, and as a result, inmates are not allowed to

use it.  The application of the policy to the Plaintiff has not

precluded him from participating in the rituals of his religion.  

The Plaintiff requests 3.5 ounces of wine for shabbos

services on Friday and Saturday and four glasses of 3.5 ounces of

wine for Passover Seder.  This is clearly a large amount of wine

for the institution setting.  The least restrictive means in

Plaintiff’s case is to allow him to continue participating in the

rituals with grape juice.  There are no other least restrictive

means in this case.  The Plaintiff’s insistence on getting wine
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in the amounts specified by him shows that he has concluded that

no other option is acceptable.  Thus, the government has met its

burden to show that its inability to satisfy his request

consistent with the safety and security of the institution and

the current BOP policy constitute the least restrictive means in

this case.

Requiring Plaintiff to celebrate his rituals without

relatively large amounts of wine, but with kosher grape juice

constitutes the least restrictive means of furthering the

compelling governmental interest in preserving the security in

our institutions.  See May v. Baldwin, 109 F.3d 557, 563 (9th

Cir. 1997) (requiring Rastafarian inmates to unbraid dreadlocks

when being transferred was found to be the least restrictive

means as the use of a metal detector or having staff conduct

searches by touching the hair were not effective enough);

VanBaalen Decl., ¶ 11.

The Plaintiff is not entitled to Prospective Relief

The statute governing prospective and injunctive relief in

the PLRA, codified at 18 U.S.C § 3626(a)(1) and (2), puts

substantial limits on injunctive and other "prospective relief." 

“Prospective relief" is defined in the statute as "all relief

other than compensatory monetary damages." 18 U.S.C. 3626(g)(7). 

Specifically, the Act provides, "relief in any civil action with

respect to ‘prison conditions’ (defined by the Supreme Court in
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Porter v. Nussle, 534 U.S. 516, 525 (2002), as "any aspect of

prison life") shall extend no further than necessary to correct

the violation of the Federal right of a particular plaintiff or

plaintiffs.  The court shall not grant or approve any prospective

relief unless the court finds that such relief is narrowly drawn,

extends no further than necessary to correct the violation of the

Federal right, and is the least intrusive means necessary to

correct the violation of the Federal right."  18 U.S.C.

3626(a)(1) and (2). 

In this case, clearly, the Plaintiff is not entitled to

injunctive relief and a declaratory judgment.  The Court must

make particularized findings of the Federal right violated and

the needs-narrowness-intrusiveness requirements under the act. 

Id.  This mandatory requirement must be more than mimicking the

language of the statute, as discussed in Cason v. Seckinger, 231

F.3d 777 (11th Cir. 2000); see also, Johnson v. Breeden, 280 F.3d

1308 (11th Cir. 2002).  And the statute further states, "[t]he

court shall give substantial weight to any adverse impact on

public safety or the operation of a criminal justice system

caused by the relief."

Similarly, Plaintiff is not entitled to declaratory relief. 

Plaintiff is seeking declaratory relief.  The statute governing

declaratory relief is found in 28 U.S.C. § 2201 (a) and provides:

... any court of the United States, upon the filing of an
appropriate pleading, may declare the rights and other legal

Case 1:05-cv-00596-PLF     Document 17      Filed 08/08/2005     Page 38 of 52



- 37 -

relations of any interested party seeking such declaration,
whether or not further relief is or could be sought.  Any
such declaration shall have the force and effect of a final
judgment or decree and shall be reviewable as such.

In determining the appropriateness of a declaratory

judgment, the Court will look at (1) whether declaratory judgment

will definitely settle the controversy; (2) the availability of

other remedies or other proceedings that may be pending; (3) the

convenience of the parties; (4) the equity of the conduct of the

declaratory judgment; (5) the prevention of 'procedural fencing';

(6) the state of the court record; (7) the degree of the conflict

between the parties and (8) the public importance of the question

to be decided.  Rooney v. Secretary of Army, 293 F.Supp.2d 111

(D.D.C. 2003).

Declaratory relief is applicable when there is an “actual

controversy,” which has been defined as “a controversy of

sufficient immediacy and reality to warrant the issuance of a

declaratory judgment.”  Chaplaincy of Full Gospel Churches, et

al. v. Johnson, 276 F.Supp.2d 79, 81 (D.D.C. 2003).  Even in

those cases, however, the District Court retains the discretion

to withhold declaratory relief.  Id.  

The actions that Plaintiff complains of were done in

accordance with the BOP policy and procedures, although the

Plaintiff argues that those actions violated the RFRA.  He also

insists that the policies must be amended to the extend that they

deny the relief he is seeking.  However, Plaintiff is not
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entitled to relief because he has failed to meet his burden under

RFRA and Turner, supra, and is not entitled to a judgment in his

favor.

Transfer

If the action is not dismissed, the Court should transfer

this action to the Eastern District of Texas pursuant to 28

U.S.C. § 1404(a), for the convenience of the parties and

witnesses and in the interest of justice.11  See Starnes v.

McGuire, 512 F.2d 918, 927-31 (D.C. Cir. 1974) (in assessing

whether transfer is appropriate in prisoner cases, the court

should consider such factors as the difficulty in communicating

with counsel, difficulty in transferring the prisoner, the

availability of witnesses and files and speed of final

resolution).

In this case, the factors identified in Starnes and in

Section 1404(a) strongly support transfer to the District of

Plaintiff's incarceration.  Even if Plaintiff had alleged facts
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giving rise to an articulable, concrete injury arising from the

wrongs he alleges, this action would most appropriately be

brought in the District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. 

Plaintiff challenges actions witnessed by individuals located in

the State of Texas, allegedly causing injury to Plaintiff in the

State of Texas, and the Plaintiff and his records are located in

Texas.  Moreover, the decisions challenged by the Plaintiff were

made by the prison administrators in Texas.  See Attachment A:

Response to Administrative Remedy Request at the institution

level.  

The fact that the Plaintiff challenges a policy assertedly

formulated in BOP Central Office located in Washington, DC, does

not in itself require that the case remain in this district. 

BOP's current Program Statement allows that: “When necessary,

Wardens may identify alternative practices and implement the

least restrictive alternative consistent with the security and

orderly running of Bureau institutions.”  Program Statement

5360.09 at 5.  Thus, even the current Central Office policy would

allow exceptions to meet the “least restrictive alternative”

called for in the RFRA.  This means that even if the Court were

to reject the BOP Central Policy as not sufficiently tailored to

each institution, the policy would stand given its exception

“[w]hen necessary,” and the factual issue that would remain to be

litigated would be focused on the particular institution where
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the Plaintiff is housed.  The remaining facts relevant to that

inquiry, and inquiry into Plaintiff's inconsistent statements

regarding his religious preferences, would come from witnesses in

FCI Beaumont, in the Eastern District of Texas.  As this Court

has explained “because the implementation of policy is at issue,

and because that implementation took place [in the plaintiff’s

place of incarceration], venue is more appropriately laid

[there].”  Levitan v. United States Department of Justice, Civil

Action No. 03-1916, slip op. at 4 (D.D.C. Aug. 12, 2004)(citing

Huskey v. Quinlan, 785 F.Supp. 4, 7 (D.D.C. 1992)).  

Accordingly, to the extent that this case survives a dispositive

motion, it would be most appropriately litigated in the Eastern

District of Texas.  
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CONCLUSION

For these reasons, this action should be dismissed or

summary judgment entered in favor of the Defendants.  If the

action is not dismissed, it should be transferred.

Respectfully submitted,             

                                    
KENNETH L. WAINSTEIN, DC Bar #451058
United States Attorney              

                                    
R. CRAIG LAWRENCE, DC Bar #171538       
Assistant United States Attorney    

                                    
W. MARK NEBEKER, DC Bar #396739     
Assistant United States Attorney
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BRANDON CREIGHTON SAMPLE )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) Civil Action No. 05-596 PLF
)

FEDERAL BUREAU OF PRISONS, )
)

Defendant. )
                              )

DEFENDANTS’ STATEMENT OF MATERIAL
FACTS AS TO WHICH THERE IS NO GENUINE DISPUTE

The Federal Bureau of Prisons, (“BOP”) submits this

statement of material facts as to which there are no genuine

disputes in accordance with Local Rule 7(h). 

1. Plaintiff, Brandon Creighton Sample, Federal Register

Number 33949-037, is currently incarcerated within the BOP.  He

first arrived in BOP custody on June 12, 2000, as a presentence

admission.  See Declaration of Susan VanBaalen ("VanBaalen

Decl."), ¶ 8. 

2. Plaintiff was sentenced on March 1, 2001, to a term of

168 months followed by three years supervised release for

conspiracy to violate laws of the United States in violation of

18 U.S.C. § 371, conspiracy to commit money laundering in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1708, and aiding/abetting in possession

of stolen mail matter.  The Judgment and Commitment Order

reflects that the Court made a recommendation to the BOP that

“[t]he defendant participate in the Comprehensive Residential

Drug Abuse Treatment Program.” See Judgment and Commitment Order. 

3.  Plaintiff was designated to serve his sentence at the
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Federal Correctional Institution, in Beaumont (Low), in Beaumont,

Texas.  Complaint, ¶ 5. 

4. Upon admission at a BOP facility, unit staff will enter

the inmate’s initial religious preference in the computerized

database system known as SENTRY.  The BOP does not require

inmates to profess a religious preference or belief.  Inmates can

change their religious preferences at any time during their

confinement by submitting a written request to the institution

chaplain.  The chaplain will approve the change in religious

preference and will make the necessary entry reflecting such a

change in SENTRY.  See Program Statement 5360.07 (Aug. 25, 1997)

at 3; Program Statement 5360.09 (Dec. 31, 2004) at 18; 28 C.F.R.

§ 548.10(c).

5. BOP records reflect that on June 15, 2000, the

Plaintiff indicated he had no religious preference, see VanBaalen

Decl., ¶ 8, but on May 18, 2001, while confined at the Federal

Correctional Institution in Bastrop, Texas, Plaintiff expressed a

preference for the Protestant Religion.  Id.; Exhibit 1 ("Print-

out of Inmate History-Religion").  

6.  On September 17, 2001, the Plaintiff changed his

religious preference to Jewish.  Id.  Plaintiff has made no other

changes to his religious preference since then.  See id.  In

accordance with BOP policy, inmates will not necessarily be

allowed to participate in the religious activities or rituals of

Case 1:05-cv-00596-PLF     Document 17      Filed 08/08/2005     Page 45 of 52



- 3 -

one religion unless the inmate has professed adherence to that

religion.  28 C.F.R. § 548.10.

7. In 2002, the BOP amended its policy to provide inmates 

may receive “small amounts of wine” as part of a religious

ritual. See Program Statement 5360.08, Religious Beliefs and

Practices (August 22, 2002).

8. The administrative remedy database reflects that

Plaintiff filed Administrative Remedy Request 349793, in which he

requested at least 3.5 ounces of wine every Friday and Saturday

for the Kuddish prayer and at least 3.5 ounces of wine four times

during the Passover Seder.  Declaration of Harrell Watts ("Watts

Decl."), ¶ 3; Exhibit 2 (Administrative Remedy Forms) at 1-2. 

This request was denied.  Exhibit 2 at 3.

9.  Plaintiff appealed this decision to the Regional

Director and his appeal was denied.  Id.  at 4-6.  On November

23, 2004, Plaintiff appeal to Central Office and this appeal was

also denied.  Id. at 7-9.  As the administrative remedy responses

explained, the restriction on wine consumption for inmates is

based on the need to maintain the secure and orderly running of

the institution and the institution is utilizing Kosher grape

juice as it is an acceptable substitute for wine according to

Jewish law as confirmed by the Rabbi.  See Exhibit 2.  

10.  Plaintiff has not raised the December 31, 2004 Program

Statement in these Administrative Remedy forms; nor did he

Case 1:05-cv-00596-PLF     Document 17      Filed 08/08/2005     Page 46 of 52



- 4 -

present his request to have another staff member provide him wine

with his request to the institution.  See Watts Decl., ¶ 3;

Exhibit 2 at 1-2.

11. Defendants are restricting the use of wine based on the

significant governmental interest of maintaining institution

security.  See VanBaalen Decl., ¶¶ 5-8, 11-14, 16-18; Declaration

of Linda R. Thomas ("Thomas Decl."), ¶¶ 4-11.

12. There are legitimate penological interests for

restricting inmates access to alcohol, such as security and order

of the prison, rehabilitation, punishment, deterrence of criminal

behavior, and a non-hostile work environment for prison staff.   

Thomas Decl., ¶ 4.

13. Alcohol use in prison presents a serious threat to the

security of the BOP facilities, because inmates are susceptible

to becoming violent when under the influence of alcohol. Prison

populations contain a higher incidence of persons with histories

of violence than normally found in society at large.   Id., ¶ 5.

14. In fact, according to a 1998 Bureau of Justice

Statistics study, titled "Alcohol And Crime, An Analysis of

National Data on the Prevalence of Alcohol Involvement in Crime," 

by Statistician Lawrence A. Greenfeld, at page 6 (Apr. 5, 1998)

(see www.ojp.usdoj.gov/bjs): 

Among the 5.3 million convicted offenders under the
jurisdiction of corrections agencies in 1996, nearly 2
million, or about 36%, were estimated to have been
drinking at the time of the offense.
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See Thomas Decl., ¶ 6.

15. A similar link between alcohol consumption and violence

is evidenced in another report titled:  "Profile of Jail Inmates

1996," at page 9  (Apr. 1998) (NCJ 164620) (see

www.ojp.usdoj.gov/bjs/pub/pdf/pji96.pdf):

Among convicted inmates 42% of the males and 30% of the
females said they had been drinking alcoholic beverages
when they committed their offense.

An estimated 42% of violent offenders said they were
using alcohol at the time of the offense. . . .

See Thomas Decl., ¶ 7.

16. BOP policy provides that “[i]nmates may be permitted to

receive small amounts of wine as part of a religious ritual.”

Program Statement 5360.09, Program Statement 5360.08, Religious

Beliefs and Practices, pages 15-16, Section 20 (August 22, 2002-

Change Notice).  The BOP policy amended on December 31, 2004,

still allows inmates to receive “small amounts of wine.” See id.;

Thomas Decl., ¶ 8; VanBaalen Decl., ¶ 6.

17.  The BOP has understandably concluded that alcohol

consumption and possession in federal prisons must generally be

prohibited in order to protect the safety and security of the

prisons.  See, e.g., 28 C.F.R. § 541.13 Table 3, Code 222

("Making, possessing, or using intoxicants" is regarded as a High

Category prohibited act).  In spite of this prohibition, from
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April 2004 through March 2005, there were four thousand and

twenty-nine (4029) disciplinary incidents in all BOP institutions

involving violations of the BOP’s prohibition on “making,

possessing, or using intoxicants,” which total 18.4% of all 200

level offenses.  See KI/SSS Key Indicators Strategic Support

System (4/2004 through 3/2005).  Inmates under the influence of

alcohol have a tendency to become assaultive; and fights over

alcohol possessed in prison are commonplace.  See Thomas Decl., ¶

9.

18. Safety and security concerns will not permit the

accommodation of Mr. Sample's request to permit him to ingest 3.5

ounces of wine every Friday and Saturday or 14 ounces of wine at

the annual Passover seder observance, even if low alcohol wine

were used.  Even the low alcohol wine proposed by Mr. Sample is

likely to have a negative impact on the safety and security of a

prison if dispensed in anything other than small amounts under

proper supervision.  The desire by many federal inmates to secure

alcohol even at the risk of significant discipline is reflected

in the BOP records of disciplinary action taken against federal

inmates referenced above.  See Thomas Decl., ¶ 10.

19. Another legitimate concern is the safety of the work

environment of BOP employees, who are all considered correctional

workers first.  A staff member may be placed in a very dangerous

situation when required to control an area in which inmates are
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drinking alcohol or in which significant amounts of alcohol are

available.  Such circumstances would potentially lead some

inmates wanting more alcohol to attempt to coerce other inmates

and/or staff by threats, violence, or intimidation to obtain more

alcohol than they are entitled to, resulting in disruptive and

assaultive behavior among inmates and possibly involving staff. 

See Thomas Decl., ¶ 11.

20. BOP's current Program Statement reflects the least

restrictive alternative by providing inmates with kosher grape

juice for the celebration or small amounts of wine dispensed

under specific supervision.  See Thomas Decl., ¶ 12; Program

Statement 5360.09.

21. The BOP allows Plaintiff to observe his religious holy

days; he is able to recite Kiddush on the required days and is

able to participate in Passover Seder and the BOP also employs a 
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Rabbi who visits the institution periodically.  See Complaint, ¶¶

8-14; Program Statement 5360.09; 28 C.F.R. Part 548.

Respectfully submitted,             

                                    
KENNETH L. WAINSTEIN, DC Bar #451058
United States Attorney              

                                    
R. CRAIG LAWRENCE, DC Bar #171538       
Assistant United States Attorney    

                                    
W. MARK NEBEKER, DC Bar #396739     
Assistant United States Attorney    
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that service of the foregoing Defendants’ 

Motion To Dismiss Or, In The Alternative, For Summary Judgment Or

To Transfer, supporting memorandum, statement of material facts,

and a proposed order has been made through the Court's electronic

transmission facilities on this  8th day of August, 2005.

                                   
W. MARK NEBEKER, DC Bar #396739     
Assistant United States Attorney
Civil Division
555 4th Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20530
(202) 514-7230
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRANDON SAMPLE, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) Civil Action No. 05-596 PLF
)

HARLEY LAPPIN, et al., )
)

Defendants. )
                              )

ORDER

UPON CONSIDERATION of Defendants' Motion To Dismiss Or, In

The Alternative, For Summary Judgment Or To Transfer and the

entire record herein, it is this ___ day of ________________,

2005, hereby 

ORDERED, that Defendants' Motion To Dismiss Or, In The

Alternative, For Summary Judgment Or To Transfer be and is hereby

GRANTED; and it is 

FURTHER ORDERED, that this case is dismissed with prejudice.

                            
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

W. MARK NEBEKER
Assistant U.S. Attorney
Civil Division
555 Fourth Street, N.W.
Washington, DC  20530

ADAM NADELHAFT, ESQ.
Winston & Strawn, LLP
1700 K Street, N.W.
Washington, DC  20006
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